FILED
NOVEMBER 30, 2012
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 30815-4-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

NATHEN BENNETT,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

The Honorable Robert Lawrence-Berrey

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ELAINE L. WINTERS
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by finding Nathen Bennett's preemptory challenge to Juror 4 was racially-discriminatory and seating the juror.

2. The trial court erred by finding Mr. Bennett's preemptory challenge to Juror 21 was racially-discriminatory and seating the juror.

3. The trial court erred by refusing to give Mr. Bennett's proposed jury instruction on justifiable homicide. CP 26, 54.

4. The trial court erred by refusing to give Mr. Bennett's proposed jury instruction on self-defense. CP 57.

5. The trial court erred by refusing to give Mr. Bennett's proposed jury instruction defining "great personal injury." CP 27.

6. The trial court erred by refusing to give Mr. Bennett's proposed jury instruction defining rape. CP 52

7. The trial court erred by refusing to give Mr. Bennett's proposed jury instruction defining sexual intercourse. CP 53

8. The trial court erred by refusing to give Mr. Bennett's proposed jury instruction explaining that actual danger is not necessary to establish self-defense. CP 28.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. When the State alleges that a defendant exercises his preemptory challenges in a manner that discriminates against a racial group, the court may deny the challenges and seat the juror only if the State proves a discriminatory purpose. Mr. Bennett explained he challenged Juror 21 because he was a grade school teacher who was vocal about detecting when someone was telling the truth and because the juror enjoyed sharing the Gospel with the homeless in his free time. Defense counsel challenged Juror 4, a full-time homemaker, because she was not vocal during voir dire and appeared intimidated or disinterested. Must Mr. Bennett's conviction be reversed because he offered valid and racially-neutral reasons for excusing the two jurors and the State did not establish purposeful discrimination against Hispanics?

2. Washington citizens have the right to defend themselves when they are the victim of a violent felony. Mr. Bennett testified that he stabbed the victim because the older man was raping him, and he proposed the jury be instructed as to justifiable homicide. Where the trial court is required to instruct the jury on self-defense if there is any evidence to support the instruction, must Mr. Bennett's conviction be

reversed because the trial court refused to instruct the jury on justifiable homicide?

3. The State has the burden of proving self-defense because it negates the mental element of murder and assault. The mens rea for felony murder is the commission of the predicate felony, in this case second degree assault, and Mr. Bennett proposed the jury be given an instruction explaining the right to use force to defend oneself. Must Mr. Bennett's conviction be reversed because the trial court refused to instruct the jury on self-defense by utilizing the standard for negating the mental element of murder rather than that negating the mental element of second degree assault?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nineteen-year-old Nathen Bennett was living with his grandmother in Granger, Washington in the fall of 2010. 4RP 685.¹ Mr. Bennett and a teenage friend were at the Pronto Store in Granger when 48-year-old Leonardo Cantu, Jr. asked them for a dollar to buy beer and then told them he could get them any drugs they needed. 2RP

¹ Mr. Bennett refers to the five-volume verbatim report of proceedings with the volume number provided by the court reporter:

1RP – March 5 & 6, 2012

2RP – March 7, 2012

3RP – March 8, 2012

4RP – March 12, 2012

5RP – March 13 & 14 and April 13, 2012.

337; 4RP 686-87. Mr. Bennett obtained a free dime bag of marijuana from Mr. Cantu. 4RP 687-88. A few days later, Mr. Bennett was sitting on the bench in front of the store when Mr. Cantu again appeared and gave Mr. Bennett marijuana. 4RP 688-69.

On November 4, Mr. Bennett met Mr. Cantu, and the two went to Mr. Cantu's home to get marijuana. 4RP 690-91. Mr. Cantu lived with his parents and an adult brother, and he directed Mr. Bennett to enter the residence through his bedroom window. 3RP426, 427-28, 445-46, 458; 4RP 692. Once inside, Mr. Cantu forced Mr. Bennett to have sexual intercourse with him, not stopping although Mr. Bennett continued to tell him no. 4RP 692, 695. Afterwards, Mr. Cantu laughed and told Mr. Bennett to return the next day for the marijuana because he did not have any. 4RP 694, 699. Mr. Bennett left the Cantu residence through the bedroom window. 4RP 699.

Late in the afternoon of the next day, Mr. Cantu and Mr. Bennett met at the Cantu residence, went to another house to obtain marijuana, and returned to Mr. Cantu's house where they smoked the marijuana outside. 4RP 700-02. When Mr. Bennett announced he was leaving, Mr. Cantu directed him to go in a certain direction. 4RP 704.

Mr. Cantu then stopped Mr. Bennett and told him to go into his bedroom through the window or the back door. 4RP 705.

When Mr. Bennett refused, Mr. Cantu began to have sexual intercourse with Mr. Bennett outside the house, pulling down Mr. Bennett's pants and putting his mouth on Mr. Bennett's penis. 4RP 705-06, 720. Mr. Bennett tried to push Mr. Cantu's head away, and told him to stop, but Mr. Cantu continued. 4RP 706-07, 708. Mr. Bennett pulled out a pocket knife and stabbed Mr. Cantu until he fell down. 4RP 706-07. Mr. Bennett explained that he had no alternative because he told Mr. Cantu to stop, but Mr. Cantu continued to rape him. 4RP 708, 710, 720.

From inside the house, Mr. Cantu's brother, Lionel Cantu, heard Mr. Cantu call for help and looked outside to see his brother staggering back and forth.² 3RP 426, 429-30. When Lionel realized his brother's shirt was covered with blood, he called his mother and they met Mr. Cantu at the front door. 2RP 432-33. Lionel made his brother sit down, used towels to apply pressure to his neck wound, and called 911. 3RP 433-45. Police officers and paramedics came to the house to help Mr. Cantu, who was frantic, asking for help but refusing it. 2RP 354-

² Lionel Cantu is an adult. He is referred to by his first name only for purposes of clarity; no disrespect is intended.

55; 3RP 463-64, 480, 527, 529. Mr. Cantu did not respond when asked what happened. 4RP 434, 529. He was still combative in the ambulance as paramedics took him to the Toppenish Community Hospital, but he got progressively weaker and eventually stopped breathing. 2RP 356-57; 4RP 613. Hospital personnel were unable to revive him. 2RP 357.

Mr. Cantu's sister, Irene Torres, told the police that she had seen Mr. Cantu and Mr. Bennett together earlier that evening. 3RP 454-55, 481. Yakima County Sheriff's Detective Dave Johnson and a Granger police sergeant went to Mr. Bennett's grandmother's home and placed Mr. Bennett under arrest. 3RP 482; 4RP 615. Mr. Bennett told the officers, "He tried to rape me so I stabbed him." 3RP 485; 4RP 616, 710. Mr. Bennett gave the officers the clothing he had been wearing. 3RP 485; 4RP 616-17. During a video-taped interview at the police station in Yakima, Mr. Bennett told Detective Johnson that he stabbed a man because the man was raping him. 4RP 644, 5RP 784; Exs. 60, 61, 64.

The Yakima County Prosecutor's Office charged Mr. Bennett with second degree murder under two alternatives – intentional murder or felony murder based upon the predicate offense of second degree

assault – and also alleged he was armed with a deadly weapon. CP 4-5.³ At the close of the State’s case, however, the prosecutor was permitted to amend the information to charge only felony murder in order to eliminate the possibility that the court would instruct the jury on lesser-included offenses. 4RP 607-09, 659-62, 681-82; CP 48-49.

At a trial, forensic pathologist Gina Fino testified that Mr. Cantu died as the result of the loss of blood caused by stab wounds to his neck and chest. 2RP 316-17. She found 26 incision and stab wounds on Mr. Cantu’s neck, chest, back, fingers, and arms, which she opined were cause by a knife with a blade of approximately three to five inches. 2RP 323-24, 328, 333. A forensic scientist with the Washington State Crime Laboratory testified that he found a small drop of blood on the sleeve of the sweatshirt Mr. Bennett gave to the police. 3RP 492, 502, 504. DNA testing revealed a mixed sample consistent with Mr. Cantu and Mr. Bennett, with Mr. Cantu as the major contributor. 3RP 505-07.

Mr. Bennett requested that the jury be instructed on self-defense. CP 25-29, 51-54, 55-57. The trial court refused to give any self-defense instructions, and Mr. Bennett was convicted of second

³ Both the information and the amended information incorrectly reference RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a) and (c) instead of (a) and (b).

degree felony murder while armed with a deadly weapon. CP 78-79; 4RP 814; 5RP 811, 872-4. He received a sentence of 180 months in prison followed by 36 months of community custody. CP 84-85; 5RP 894. Mr. Bennett appeals. CP 91-99.

D. ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Bennett's conviction must be reversed because the trial court incorrectly limited his preemptory juror challenges.

The trial court found that two of Mr. Bennett's preemptory challenges to prospective jurors were racially discriminatory and sat the two jurors over Mr. Bennett's objection. The reasons given by Mr. Bennett's attorney for exercising preemptory challenges, however, did not reveal any bias or attempt to exclude Hispanic jurors from deciding the case. Because the court incorrectly determined the reasons for challenging the two jurors were not racially-neutral and the two jurors were on the jury that convicted Mr. Bennett, his conviction must be reversed and remanded for a new trial.

a. The equal protection clause forbids racial discrimination in jury selection. A person's race is "unrelated to his fitness as a juror." Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 87, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986) (quoting Thiel v. Southern Pacific Co., 328 U.S. 217, 227, 66 S.

Ct. 984, 90 L. Ed. 1181 (1946)). The use of juror challenges in a racially-discriminatory manner violates the equal protection rights of the parties and the potential jurors. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 59, 112 S. Ct. 2348, 120 L. Ed. 2d 33 (1992); Edmonson v. Leesville Concrete Co., 500 U.S. 614, 111 S. Ct. 2077, 114 L. Ed. 2d 660 (1991); Batson, 476 U.S. 79, 87. Thus, a party may not exercise a preemptory challenge for the purpose of excluding a racial group from the jury.

When the State challenges a defendant's use of preemptory challenges as discriminatory, the court reviews the challenge using a three-part test:

- (1) The State must demonstrate a prima facie case of racial discrimination based upon the circumstances of the case;
- (2) The burden then shifts to the defendant to articulate a racially-neutral explanation for challenging the jurors in question;
- (3) The court must then determine if the State has proven purposeful discrimination.

McCollum, 505 U.S. at 59; Batson, 476 U.S. at 95-98; State v. Vreen, 143 Wn.2d 923, 926-27, 26 P.3d 236 (2001). As will be demonstrated below, Mr. Bennett provided legitimate and racially-neutral reasons for

his preemptory challenges, and the trial court's determination that he violated the Equal Protection Clause was incorrect.

b. The State claimed Mr. Bennett's preemptory challenges were exercised in a discriminatory manner. After the parties exercised their six preemptory challenges, the State raised a Batson challenge to four of Mr. Bennett's challenges. 1RP 219. The prosecutor explained that Mr. Bennett was Caucasian and Mr. Cantu was Hispanic.⁴ 1RP 219. He asserted Mr. Bennett improperly exercised his preemptory challenges to excuse four jurors who appeared to be Hispanic, resulting in an "all-white jury." CP 21; 1RP 219-20. The jurors referred to as Hispanic were Juror Numbers 4, 10, 21, and 31 (Scott Ryel). 1RP 219; CP 106.

To establish a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination, the objecting party need only produce evidence of any circumstances that "raise an inference" that the challenge was used to exclude a venire member from the jury based upon race. Batson, 476 U.S. at 96; State v. Rhone, 168 Wn.2d 645,651, 229 P.3d 752, cert. denied, 131 S. Ct. 522

⁴ Appellant understands that many Hispanics are Caucasian, but utilizes the terms used by the parties and court. No disrespect is intended to any cultural or racial group or person.

According to the U.S. Census statistics for 2011, 88.6% of the residents of Yakima County are "white." 45.8% were identified as of "Hispanic or Latino Origin," and 46.9% as "White persons, not Hispanic."
<http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/53/53077.html> (last viewed 11/26/12).

(2010). When the State raised its Batson challenge, defense counsel disagreed that the State had made a prima facie case, but nonetheless explained the reasons for his challenges to four Hispanic jurors. 1RP 220-22. Once the court determines there is a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination in jury selection, the responding party must come forward with a neutral explanation for its use of the preemptory challenge. Batson, 476 U.S. at 97. The explanation need not be particularly persuasive or even plausible. Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 767-68, 115 S. Ct. 1769, 131 L. Ed. 2d 834 (1995); Vreen, 143 Wn.2d at 927; see State v. Sanchez, 72 Wn. App. 821, 867 P.2d 638 (1994) (prosecutor's challenge to Hispanic juror because English was his second language and he did not like attorneys was nondiscriminatory). "Unless a discriminatory intent is inherent in the [proponent's] explanation, the reason offered will be deemed race neutral." Purkett, 514 U.S. at 768; see State v. Beliz, 104 Wn. App. 206, 213-14, 15 P.3d 683 (2001) (prosecutor's explanation that she exercised her preemptory challenges against Hispanic jurors because she wanted a predominately older, male jury revealed impermissible gender bias).

The court found that two of Mr. Bennett's challenges were based upon non-discriminatory reasons. 2RP 225. Juror Number 10 was a federal probation officer, which the court believed was a typical defense challenge. 1RP 74, 119; 2RP 225. Juror Number 31 worked at a warehouse and expressed concern about missing work; he was later excused for cause for this reason. 1RP 82; 2RP 225, 235-26. The trial court found Juror 31's desire not to be on the jury was a nondiscriminatory reason for the challenge. 2RP 225.

However, the court found that Mr. Bennett's challenges to Jurors 4 and 21 were discriminatory. 2RP 225. The court therefore ordered the parties to start the preemptory challenges anew and forbid the defense from challenging the two jurors. 2RP 225, 233. Defense counsel moved for a mistrial, asserting that his reasons were race-neutral. 2RP 227-28, 231-32. The two jurors sat on the jury that convicted Mr. Bennett. CP 78-79, 120.

c. Mr. Bennett's reasons for excluding the two jurors were reasonable and racially neutral. The trial court found Mr. Bennett's challenges to Jurors 4 and 21 demonstrated purposeful discrimination. 2RP 225. The court, however, did not dispute the factual basis of defense counsel's explanations. 2RP 225. The trial court was

incorrect, however, because defense counsel offered valid and racially neutral explanations for challenging each of the jurors.

i. Defense counsel offered a legitimate race-neutral reason for excusing Juror Number 21. Mr. Bennett provided a race-neutral reason for his decision to excuse Juror Number 21, Hector Mendez. Mr. Mendez was a fifth grade teacher and father of three children. 1RP 123. Both Mr. Mendez and his wife were active in their children's education. 1RP 123. Mr. Mendez described his other leisure activity as "sharing the Gospel over at the Union Gospel Mission reaching out to the homeless." 1RP 123. He also had close friends in law enforcement. 1RP 68.

Mr. Mendez participated actively in the jury selection process. 1RP 154-55, 187-88, 207-08. When the prosecutor asked questions about deciding the case based upon evidence and determining witness credibility, Mr. Mendez explained that he wanted to hear the "testimonials." 1RP 154. Based upon his experience as a grade school teacher, Mr. Mendez posited that when people are lying, their story changes. 1RP 154-56. He also agreed with other jurors that "[b]ody language says a lot." RP 156.

Mr. Bennett's attorney explained that he sought to excuse Juror 21 because of his religious orientation and work with the Union Gospel Mission, his employment as a teacher, and because of what he said in jury selection, including his discussion of "testimonials." 1RP 221.

The neutrality of a party's challenge to a juror is viewed in light of the facts of the individual case. State v. Rhodes, 82 Wn. App. 192, 917 P.2d 149 (1996). In Rhodes, the prosecutor exercised a preemptory challenge to the only African-American on the jury panel because the juror revealed he and a friend had been briefly detained by police searching for two men who had recently committed a crime in the area. Rhodes, 82 Wn. App. at 197-99. The juror did not think the police action was unreasonable, but admitted black people may be stopped more frequently by the police than white people. Id. at 199. The Court of Appeals found the challenge was not based upon racial discrimination because of the facts of the case – the defendant argued he was mistakenly accused of the crime because he happened to be at the crime scene. Id. at 202-03

Mr. Mendez's discussion of how he determined witness credibility based in part upon whether the person's story changed was of great importance in this case. Mr. Bennett's statement to the police

was admitted at trial. Ex. 60. In it, Mr. Bennett refused to answer some questions, and his trial testimony revealed details not included in the statement. Ex. 64 at 6-7, 23-24; 4RP 716; 738-39, 5RP 755, 785-86. Moreover, Mr. Mendez appeared to be a person who was confident in his own view point and inclined to recruit others to his position, as seen by his work sharing the gospel with the homeless. Mr. Mendez thus could be a potent force for the prosecution in deliberation if he expressed his views about determining if someone was lying in jury selection and persuaded others of its validity. In fact, Mr. Mendez was the jury foreman, showing concerns about his potential to lead the jury to convict were proven correct. CP 78-79.

Defense counsel's explanation that he was motivated by the juror's religious activities was also not racially discriminatory. In Vreen, defense counsel had exercised a preemptory challenge to an African-American juror who was a pastor and retired from the military. Vreen, 143 Wn.2d at 926. Defense counsel explained he feared the witness "would have been of an authoritarian mindset, so could give more credence to the state's arguments and evidence." Id. On appeal, the State correctly conceded that defense counsel's explanation was race-neutral. Id. at 927. Other states have found prosecutor's

preemptory challenges to prospective jurors because they were ministers or involved in religious activity to be race-neutral. Arthur v. Sexton Dental Clinic, 368 S.C. 326, 628 S.E.2d 894, 900 (2006) (minister); Young v. State, 283 S.W.3d 854, 868-69 (Tx.Crim.App.) (prospective juror involved in outreach ministries in prisons), cert. denied, 130 S. Ct. 1015 (2009); Darden v. State, 293 Ga.App. 127, 666 S.E.2d 559, 565 (2008) (one juror was priest, another was associate pastor).

Mr. Bennett's counsel offered race-neutral reasons for excusing Juror 21 that were tied to the facts of the individual case, not the juror's ethnic background as required by Batson, 476 U.S. 97-98. The trial court erred as a matter of law by finding the challenge was discriminatory.

ii. Defense counsel offered legitimate race-neutral reasons for excusing Juror Number 4. Juror Number 4, Sonya Cerda, was a stay-at home mom with three children, ages 9, 2, and 1, married to a supervisor at a steel company. 1RP 118. During the Donahue-type jury selection, she did not volunteer to answer any questions. The prosecutor called on her during the discussion of how the jurors would judge witness credibility and how to determine if someone was telling

the truth. 1RP 146-63. Ms. Cerda simply said she agreed with what other jurors had said. 1RP 157. (“Oh, I agree with them too -- you know, you have to have evidence and whatever they were saying -- I just agree.”) (prosecutor’s interjections omitted).

Defense counsel explained that he excused Ms. Cerda because she was not vocal and appeared intimidated or disinterested; he therefore believed she would not be a good juror in this case. 1RP 221; 2RP 230-40. This racially neutral explanation for the preemptory challenge to Ms. Cerda did not provide the needed evidence for the court’s conclusion that the challenge was discriminatory.

Jury selection is hardly an exact science. Some lawyers look carefully at the potential jurors’ body language and appearance in selection. Thomas A. Mauet, Fundamentals of Trial Techniques, pages 34-35 (Boston 1980). Others look to whether individual jurors appear to have strong or weak personalities, with defense counsel often preferring jurors who appear strong and independent. *Id.* at 35. Mr. Bennett’s counsel noted Juror 4 was “looking down all of the time” and appeared intimidated, and the trial court did not contradict his view. 2RP 225, 239-40. Challenging a juror because she appeared passive, intimidated, or just disinterested is not racially discriminatory.

A juror's appearance or body language may constitute a valid basis for exercising a preemptory challenge. Rice v. Collins, 546 U.S. 333, 336-37, 339, 126 S. Ct. 969, 163 L. Ed. 2d 824 (2006) (denying habeas because prosecutor's challenge could be based upon juror's demeanor if not her youth); Purkett, 514 U.S. at 769 (prosecutor's explanation that he struck juror because he had long hair, a beard and a mustache was race neutral); State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 700, 903 P.2d 960 (1995) (prosecutor asserted juror's body language showed he was trying to avoid questions about the death penalty); State v. Ashcraft, 71 Wn. App. 444, 460, 859 P.2d 60 (1993) (prospective juror "nervous and evasive"); State v. Morales, 53 Wn. App. 681, 769 P.2d 878 (prosecutor struck a Hispanic juror because she appeared extremely uncomfortable, did not make eye contact, and he feared she would be a weak and indecisive juror) rev. denied, 112 Wn.2d 1028 (1989). The South Carolina Supreme Court noted that cases from that state as well as other jurisdictions have consistently found demeanor and appearance to be race-neutral reasons to exercise preemptory challenges. State v. Rayfield, 357 S.C. 497, 593 S.E.2d 486, 489 (2004) (juror was retired and had "conservative appearance").

The prosecutor also challenged jurors who, like Juror 4, had not been vocal during jury selection. CP 106 (Jurors 3, 20, and 30). Mr. Bennett's counsel gave valid and racially neutral reasons for exercising a preemptory challenge to excuse Juror 4. The trial court erred as a matter of law by finding the challenge demonstrated purposeful discrimination.

d. The State did not prove purposeful discrimination. The State had the burden of proving racial discrimination at every stage of the Batson analysis. Purkett, 514 U.S. at 768. Once the defendant articulates the reasons for his preemptory challenges, the trial court must determine if the State established "purposeful discrimination." Batson, 475 U.S. at 98; Rhone, 168 Wn.2d at 651.

This crime occurred in Granger, a primarily Hispanic community.⁵ Race was not an issue at trial and or discussed in jury selection. More important to jury selection was the juror's attitudes towards homosexuality.⁶

⁵ According to the 2000 Census, 85.5% of the population of Granger was Hispanic or Latino. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Granger_Washington (last viewed 11/1/2012).

⁶ One juror was excused for cause because he said he could not be fair after learning the defendant and the victim had a "homosexual relationship." 1RP 113-14.

There were 80 people in the jury panel. CP 126-28. Thirty-three were excused for cause or hardship, and one did not return for the second day of trial. CP 126-28; 1RP 54, 56-57, 59, 61, 66, 69, 70, 71, 73, 76-77, 79, 81, 83-84, 86, 88, 92, 94, 96, 108-09, 113-14, 142; 2RP 226. Of the remaining 34 jurors, at least one-fourth appear to have Hispanic names. CP 126-28.

Without little explanation, the trial court found that defense counsel's reasons for excluding Jurors 4 and 21 were not racially-neutral and concluded the discrimination was purposeful because defense counsel "excluded all four Hispanics" near the front of the jury pool. 2RP 225. A woman with a Hispanic surname, however, was seated as an alternate juror. CP 120. The court assumed racial bias because Mr. Bennett was Caucasian and Mr. Cantu was Hispanic, but did not identify any actual bias or use of stereotypes in defense counsel's explanation of his reasons for the challenges or questioning of potential jurors. 2RP 225.

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