# FILED APRIL 26, 2013 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

No. 308154

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### **DIVISION III**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

NATHEN BENNETT,

Appellant.

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF YAKIMA COUNTY, WASHINGTON

THE HONORABLE ROBERT LAWRENCE-BERRY, JUDGE

#### RESPONSE BRIEF

JAMES P. HAGARTY Prosecuting Attorney

Kevin G. Eilmes
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #18364
Attorney for Respondent
211, Courthouse
Yakima, WA 98901
(509) 574-1200

###

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### A. ISSUES PRESENTED BY ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. Whether the court erred in limiting the defendant's peremptory challenges pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*?
- 2. Whether the court erred in denying Mr. Bennett's proposed self-defense or justifiable homicide instructions?

#### B. ANSWERS TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. The court properly in denying the peremptory challenges, pursuant to the procedure set forth in *Batson*. In any event, any error on the part of the trial court does not require automatic reversal.
- 2. The court did not err in denying the proposed instructions, as the facts did not support them, and justifiable homicide instructions are not appropriate in felony murder cases.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State is satisfied with Mr. Bennett's Statement of the Case. RAP 10.3(b).

#### IV. ARGUMENT.

1. The court did not err in limiting the defendant's peremptory challenges pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*.

In <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 89, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986), the United States Supreme Court held that the State's privilege to strike individual jurors through peremptory challenges is subject to the commands of the Equal Protection Clause. Six years later in <u>Georgia v. McCollum</u>, 505 U.S. 42, 59, 112 S. Ct. 2348, 120 L. Ed. 2d 33 (1992), the court extended this principle to peremptory challenges exercised by a criminal defendant as well, reasoning, "[r]egardless of who invokes the discriminatory challenge, there can be no doubt that the harm is the same in all cases, the juror is subjected to open and public racial discrimination." Id., at 49.

<u>Batson</u> and its progeny utilize a three-part test to determine whether a peremptory challenge is race based:

[O]nce the opponent of a peremptory challenge has made out a prima facie case of racial discrimination (step one), the burden of production shifts to the proponent of the strike to come forward with a race-neutral explanation (step two). If a race-neutral explanation is tendered, the trial court must then decide (step three) whether the opponent of the strike has proved purposeful racial discrimination.

Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 767, 115 S. Ct. 1769, 131 L. Ed. 2d 834 (1995).

In deciding whether step one has been met, the court in <u>Batson</u>

"held that a prima facie case of discrimination can be made out by offering
a wide variety of evidence, so long as the sum of the proffered facts gives

'rise to an inference of discriminatory purpose.'" Johnson v. California,
545 U.S. 162, 169, 125 S. Ct. 2410, 162 L. Ed. 2d 129 (2005), quoting

Batson, 476 U.S. at 94. See also, State v. Rhone, 168 Wn.2d 645, 651, 229

P.3d 752, cert denied 131 S. Ct. 522 (2010). To satisfy his burden, a

defendant may rely solely on the facts concerning the selection of the

venire in his case. Batson, 476 U.S. at 95. The Supreme Court has

declined to require proof of a pattern or practice because a single

invidiously discriminatory governmental act is not rendered less harmful

by the fact that it is not one in a series of discriminatory acts. Johnson,

545 U.S. at 169; Batson, 476 U.S. at 95.

If the court finds a prima facie showing, then it will ask the party exercising the preemptory challenge for an explanation. Should the party volunteer a race-neutral explanation, the trial court rules on whether a prima facie case has been made out, and the trial court then rules on the ultimate question of racial motivation, the preliminary prima face case evaluation is unnecessary. Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 359, 111 S. Ct. 1859, 114 L. Ed. 2d 395 (1991); State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 699, 903 P.2d 960 (1995).

Going to the second step marks a shift in the burden of production but not of the burden of persuasion. The burden of persuasion "rests with, and never shifts from, the opponent of the strike." <u>Purkett</u>, 514 U.S. at

768. In assessing the second step, the trial court is guided by the following cautionary instruction: "The step of this process does not demand an explanation that is persuasive, or even plausible. Purkett, 514 U.S. at 767-68; *see also*, State v. Vreen, 143 Wn.2d 923, 927, 26 P.3d 236 (2001). While the proponent must have legitimate reasons for exercising the strike, this is not the same as stating that the proffered reason must make sense; the constitution requires only that it be a reason that does not deny equal protection. Purkett, 514 U.S. at 768-69.

The court has described the process as the "first two Batson steps govern the production of evidence that allows the trial court to determine the persuasiveness of the defendant's constitutional claim." <u>Johnson</u>, 545 U.S. at 171. In the third step, the court weighs the persuasiveness of the justification and "determines whether the opponent of the strike has carried his burden of proving purposeful discrimination." <u>Purkett</u>, 514 U.S. 768.

One division of the Court of Appeals has established circumstances for the court to consider in making its determination: (1) striking a group of jurors sharing race as the only common characteristic; (2) disproportionate use of strikes against a group; (3) the level of the group's representation in the venire as compared to the jury; (4) race of the defendant and the victim; (5) past conduct of the prosecutor (or

proponent of the strike); (6) type and manner of the prosecutor's voir dire questions; (7) disparate impact of the challenges; and (8) similarities between the individuals who remain on the jury and those stricken. State v. Evans, 100 Wn. App. 757, 769-70, 998 P.2d 373 (2000).

A trial court's determination is accorded great deference on appeal, Hernandez, 500 U.S. at 364; Luvene, 127 Wn.2d at 699 will be upheld unless clearly erroneous.

Here, the trial court's decision should be accorded great deference, and it should be affirmed, as there was a clear prima facie case made out that four of the defense's peremptory challenges would have removed all of the apparent Hispanic members of the jury pool. The court properly weighed the reasons given by the defense, and allowed the strikes to stand as to two prospective jurors. The court determined that the State had met its burden of demonstrating purposeful discrimination, however, as to Jurors 4 and 10. The factors outline in <a href="Evans">Evans</a> support this determination, as the strikes were disproportionately directed at members of one group, and again, allowing the strikes to stand would have removed all members of that group from the seated jury.

# 2. Even if the court erred in responding to the Batson challenge, automatic reversal is not dictated.

Mr. Bennett acknowledges in a footnote in his brief that the United States Supreme Court has rejected automatic reversal in cases where the trial court has erred in its denial of a defendant's peremptory challenge under Batson. Rivera v. Illinois, 556 U.S. 148, 129 S. Ct. 1446, 173 L. Ed.2d 320 (2009). The court's holding relied on precedent that peremptory challenges are not constitutionally mandated and are not necessary for a fair trial. The court concluded that when "a defendant tried before a qualified jury composed of individuals not challengeable for cause, the loss of a peremptory challenge due to a state court's good-faith error is not a matter of federal constitutional concern." Id., 129 S. Ct. at 1453.

Bennett maintains that Washington is one of several states which have maintained an independent basis for automatic reversal, relying on <a href="Vreen">Vreen</a>, supra, 143 Wn.2d at 932: "[w]e agree erroneous denial of a litigant's peremptory challenge cannot be harmless when the objectionable juror actually deliberates . . ."

However, it must noted that the Supreme Court relied heavily upon the Ninth Circuit decision in <u>United States v. Annigoni</u>, 96 F.3d 1132 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996), "[t]he error in this case – the erroneous denial of a right of peremptory challenge-is simply not amenable to harmless-error analysis." <u>Id</u>., at 1144.

After the decision in <u>Rivera</u>, <u>Annigoni</u> is no longer good law, and indeed the Ninth Circuit has recognized that it has been undercut by <u>Rivera</u> in its rejection of the automatic reveral rule. <u>United States v.</u>

<u>Lindsey</u>, 634 F.3d 541 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2011). In <u>Lindsey</u>, the Court of Appeals affirmed even though the trial court mistakenly disallowed the defendant's last peremptory challenge, finding that the error was not per se reversible error.

Likewise, here, there is nothing evident from the record that Jurors 4 and 10 would have been challengeable. In light of <u>Rivera</u>, even if this Court should determine that the trial court erred in denying Bennette two of his peremptory challenges, it should also determine that any violation was in good faith, and decline to remand this matter for a new trial.

# 3. The court did not err in declining to give the self defense instructions.

Mr. Bennett assigns error to the court's failure to give his proposed instructions on self defense, arguing that the court employed the wrong standard, determining that he did not have a reasonable fear of death or great bodily injury, instead of the correct one, that he had the right to use force to repel a serious felony, and that logically, self-defense must be viewed in light of the predicate felony in a charge of felony murder. The State submits that the facts did not support the proposed instructions.

Further, the State would ask this Court to so hold consistent with the decisions in Division Two, <u>State v. Ferguson</u>, 131 Wn. App. 855, 129 P.3d 856 (2006), and <u>State v. McCreven</u>, 170 Wn. App. 444, 284 P.3d 793 (2012), which limit the use of the justifiable homicide instruction, WPIC 17.02.

An appellate court normally reviews jury instructions de novo. 
State v. Knutz, 161 Wn. App. 395, 403, 253 P.3d 437 (2011), cited in 
McCreven, 170 Wn. App. at 461-62. "Jury instructions are sufficient 
when they allow counsel to argue their theory of the case, are not 
misleading, and when read as a whole properly inform the trier of fact of 
the applicable law." Id. However, when a trial court has refused to give a 
justifiable homicide or self-defense instruction, the standard of review 
depends on why the trial court did so. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 
771,-72, 966 P.2d 883 (1998). If the trial court's refusal is based on a 
factual dispute, then the decision is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id.

"To be entitled to a jury instruction on self-defense, the defendant must produce some evidence demonstrating self-defense; however, once the defendant produces some evidence, the burden shifts to the prosecution to prove the absence of self-defense beyond a <u>reasonable</u> doubt." <u>State v. Walden</u>, 131 Wn.2d 469, 473-74, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997).

"The degree of force used in self-defense is limited to what a reasonable prudent person would find necessary under the conditions as they appeared to the defendant." Id.

A trial court should deny a requested self-defense instruction only where a defense theory is "completely unsupported" by the evidence." State v. George, 161 Wn. App. 86, 100, 249 P.3d 202, *review denied* 172 Wn.2d 1007 (2011).

Mr. Bennett submits that his proposed self-defense instruction, WPIC 16.02 should have been given, since it was supported by RCW 9A.16.020, which provides that an individual may act in self defense to defend himself or others against a "felony". Bennett presumes that the sexual contact, initiated by the victim Mr. Cantu, constituted rape. However, as Mr. Bennett described the encounter at trial, there was no forcible compulsion or other means employed to overcome his resistance or lack of consent, or prevent him from simply walking away. (4 RP 705-720) The self defense instruction was thus not supported by the facts, and the court did not abuse its discretion in so finding.

Mr. Bennett's request to instruct the jury as to justifiable homicide WPIC 17.02, was also properly rejected, since, as Division Two has stated: "[w]e hold that WPIC 17.02 can never be given in a felony murder case where assault is the predicate felony because it can never be

reasonable to use a deadly weapon in a deadly manner unless the person attacked had reasonable grounds to fear death or great bodily harm."

Ferguson, 131 Wn. App. at 862.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments, this Court should affirm the conviction.